JIMMA UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY



A THESIS ON:

KINETIC AND THERMODYNAMIC STUDIES OF THE ADSORPTION OF Cr (VI) ONTO SOME SELECTED LOCAL ADSORBENTS

> NOV., 2013 JIMMA, ETHIOPIA

KINETIC AND THERMODYNAMIC STUDIES OF THE ADSORPTION OF Cr (VI) ONTO SOME SELECTED LOCAL ADSORBENTS

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES JIMMA UNIVERSITY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN CHEMISTRY (Physical Chemistry)

BY: ELSAY MEKONNEN

ADVISOR: TESFAYE REFERA (PhD)

CO-ADVISOR: MENBERU YITBAREK (MSc)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents Page	es
Table of contents	i
List of tables	iii
List of figures	iv
Abbreviations	.v
Acknowledgements	vi
Abstract	vii
1. Introduction	.1
1.1. Background of the study	.1
1.1.1. Adsorption	.2
1.1.2. Types of adsorption	.3
1.1.3. Adsorption at activated carbon surface	.3
1.1.4. Removal of Cr (VI) by adsorption	4
2. Literature review	.5
3. Statement of the problem	.9
4. Objectives of the study	10
4.1. General objective	10
4.2. Specific objectives	10
5. Significance of the study	10
6. Materials and methods	11
6.1. Chemicals and materials	11
6.1.1. Chemicals	11
6.1.2. Materials	11
6.1.3. Instruments	11
6.1.4. Adsorbents	12
6.2. Methods	12
6.2.1. Preparation of stock solution	12
6.2.2. Preparation of untreated adsorbents	12

6.2.3. Preparation of activated carbon adsorbents	12
6.2.4. Determination of concentration of chromium by AAS	13
6.2.5. Determination of adsorption efficiency	13
6.2.6. Specific surface area determination	14
6.2.7. Study of the effect of pH	15
6.2.8. Study of the effect of adsorbents dose	15
6.2.9. Study of the effect of initial chromium (VI) concentration	16
6.2.10. Study of the effect of contact time	16
6.2.11. Study of the effect of temperature	16
6.2.12. Preparation of real sample	17
6.2.13. Statistical analysis	17
7. Results and discussion	18
7.1. Specific surface area	18
7.2. Effect of pH on adsorption of Cr (VI)	19
7.3. Effect of adsorbents dose	21
7.4. Effect of initial chromium (VI) concentration	23
7.5. Effect of contact time	24
7.6. Effect of temperature	27
7.7. Adsorption isotherm study	29
7.8. Adsorption kinetic study	
7.9. Adsorption thermodynamic study	42
7.10. Adsorption efficiencies of adsorbents on real sample	43
7.11. Comparison of chromium (VI) adsorption capacities of various adsorbents	45
8. Conclusion and recommendation	47
References	49

LIST OF TABLES

Tables	Pages
Table 1: Parameters for AAS at which the metal ion was analyzed	13
Table 2: Determined specific surface areas of the adsorbents (m^2/g)	
Table 3: Langmuir and Freundlich isotherm constants for the adsorption of Cr (VI) i	on
onto untreated and activated carbon adsorbents at constant temperature of 25°C	31
Table 4: The adsorption kinetic model rate constants for adsorption of Cr (VI) ions	
onto both untreated and activated carbon adsorbents at constant temperature of 25 $^{\circ}\mathrm{C}$	41
Table 5: Thermodynamic parameters for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto untrea	ated and
activated carbon adsorbents	43
Table 6: Percent removal of chromium from the real sample solution	45
Table 7: Summary of Chromium (VI) adsorption capacities of different adsorbents	46

LIST OF FIGURES

Figures Pages
Figure 1: Effect of pH on adsorption of Cr (VI) onto untreated adsorbents19
Figure 2: Effect of pH for adsorption of Cr (VI) onto activated carbon adsorbents20
Figure 3: Effect of dose on the removal efficiencies of untreated adsorbents
Figure 4: Effect of dose on the removal efficiencies of activated carbon adsorbents22
Figure 5: Effect of initial concentration on the removal of Cr (VI) by untreated adsorbents
Figure 6: Effect of initial concentration on the removal of Cr (VI) onto activated carbon
adsorbents24
Figure 7: Effect of contact time on chromium removal by untreated adsorbents25
Figure 8: Effect of contact time on chromium removal by activated carbon adsorbents26
Figure 9: Effect of temperature on chromium removal by untreated adsorbents27
Figure 10: Effect of temperature on chromium removal by activated carbon adsorbents28
Figure 11: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto US
Figure 12: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACS
Figure 13: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto UA
Figure 14: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACA
Figure 15: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto UP
Figure 16: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACP
Figure 17: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto US
Figure 18: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACS
Figure 19: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto UA
Figure 20: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACA
Figure 21: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto UP
Figure 22: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACP
Figure 23: Pseudo-first order plot for Cr (VI) adsorption onto US, UA and UP39
Figure 24: Pseudo-first order plot for Cr (VI) adsorption onto ACS, ACA and ACP40
Figure 25: Pseudo-second order plot for Cr (VI) adsorption onto US, UA and UP40
Figure 26: Pseudo-second order plot for Cr (VI) adsorption onto ACS, ACA and ACP41

ABBREVIATIONS

CAC	Commercially Activated Carbon
AAS	Atomic Absorption Spectrometer
CNTs	Carbon Nanotubes
SWCNTs	Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes
MWCNTs	Multi Walled Carbon Nanotubes
GAC	Granular Activated Carbon
CSAC	Char of South African Coal
US	Untreated juniperus procera Sawdust
UA	Untreated Avocado kernel seeds
UP	Untreated Papaya peels
ACS	Activated Carbon of juniperus procera Sawdust
ACA	Activated Carbon of Avocado kernel seeds
ACP	Activated Carbon of Papaya peels
MB	Methylene Blue

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all I would like to express my earnest appreciation to my advisor Dr.Tesfaye Refera and co-advisor Mr. Menberu Yitbarek for their valuable scientific comments and guidance from the beginning up to the end of this work. My gratitude also goes to Department of Chemistry, Jimma University, for providing me necessary materials to carry out this study and Limu Woreda Educational Bureau (East Wollega Zone, Oromia) for its financial support all through this study.

My sincere gratitude is also expressed to Mr. Adam Biftu and Mr. Abdisa Edilu for their help in facilitating laboratory work and my brother Mr. Endashaw Mekonnen for his economical and moral support throughout this entire work.

Last but not the least; I gratefully acknowledge my family for their encouragement and moral support during this study.

ABSTRACT

Adsorption is one of the most widely applied techniques for environmental remediation of Cr (VI). Waste effluent containing Cr (VI) causes a serious environmental problem. Commercially available activated carbon adsorbents are the one that usually applied for the removal of Cr (VI). However; these adsorbents are expensive materials and need to be replaced by cheaper but effective adsorbents. In this study, locally available biomasses obtained from avocado kernel seeds, juniperus procera sawdust and papaya peels were investigated as adsorbents for the removal of Cr (VI). The study employed batch method to investigate the efficiency of the adsorbents. Parameters that influence adsorption such as: effects of pH, adsorbents dose, initial concentration, contact time, and temperature were optimized (pH: 1 for all of untreated and activated carbon of juniperus procera sawdust adsorbents, 2 and 3 for activated carbon of avocado kernel seeds and papaya peels found optimal respectively, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g, [Cr (VI)]: 5 mg/L, contact time: 160 min and temperature: 40 °C). To understand the adsorption isotherm, the Langmuir and Freundlich adsorption isotherm models were investigated and the data was found best fit to Freundlich isotherm model indicating that the heterogeneity of the adsorbents surface. Kinetic studies were made and the pseudo-second order kinetic model was found to be more suitable for describing the experimental data. Thermodynamic parameters (ΔG^{o} , ΔH^{o} and ΔS^{o}) have also been calculated and found that the adsorption process as feasible, spontaneous and exothermic in nature. The positive values of the entropy change suggest that the increased randomness at solid-liquid interfaces during the adsorption. Finally, the efficiencies of the adsorbents towards the removal of chromium from tannery wastewater were also examined and it was found as they have capacity to remove chromium from wastewater solution.

Keywords: Adsorption; adsorbents; chromium (VI); isotherms; Adsorption kinetic; thermodynamic of adsorption.

1. Introduction

1.1. Background of the study

Advances in water and wastewater treatment technology need to be directed to the development of technologies that may be more effective and less costly. Nowadays, the contamination of water by toxic heavy metals through the discharge of industrial wastewater is a worldwide environmental problem [1]. The term "heavy metal" refers to the metallic elements having density greater than or equal to 6.0 g.cm⁻³ [2]. Numerous heavy metals such as Pb, Cr, Cu, Zn, Hg, Cd etc. have toxic effects on human's health. Among these toxic metals, chromium has major impact on environment and it has both beneficial and harmful properties. Chromium mostly exists in two oxidation states such as trivalent chromium (i.e., Cr^{3+} as, $Cr(OH)^{2+}$ or $Cr(OH)_2^+$, etc.) and hexavalent chromium (i.e., Cr^{6+} as $HCrO_4^-$, CrO_4^{2-} or $Cr_2O_7^{2-}$, etc) [3]. Most of the hexavalent compounds are toxic, carcinogenic and mutagenic and even it can also cause lung cancer, [4, 5]. Chromium (VI) ions mostly exists as H_2CrO_4 form at high acidic medium (pH = 1.0). At pH 2-6 there is equilibrium between $Cr_2O_7^{2-}$ and $HCrO_4^-$ species and under alkaline condition (pH>8) it exists as chromate CrO_4^{2-} anion [6].

Chromium and its compounds are widely used in electroplating [7], leather tanning [8], cement [7], dyeing [1], metal processing [9], wood preservatives [10], paint and pigments [11], textile and steel fabrication [12] industries. These industries may release large quantities of toxic metal wastewater effluents above the permissible limit. But the maximum exit Cr (VI) concentration based on USEPA (United State Environmental Protection Agency) guidelines for potable water is 0.05 mg/L and the United Nations Food and Agricultural Organization recommended maximum level for irrigation water is 0.1 mg/L [2]. The World Health Organization (WHO) has also set the maximum permissible level of 0.05 mg/L for Cr (VI) in drinking water [13].

In general, a wide range of processes have been reported to eliminate the Cr (VI) from water and wastewater such as chemical precipitation [14], electrochemical reduction [15], sulphide precipitation [16], cementation [17], ion-exchange [18], reverse osmosis [19], electro dialysis [20], solvent extraction [21] and evaporation [22]. The application of such methods is however cost intensive [15] and is unaffordable for large scale treatment of wastewater [23]. Because of this most of the time more economical means such as adsorption for the removal of toxic metals have been applied.

1.1.1. Adsorption

Adsorption is a separation process in which certain components of the liquid phase are transferred to the surface of the solid adsorbents. When a solid surface is exposed to a liquid phase, the molecules from the bulk of the liquid phase have tendency to accumulate or concentrate at the surface of a solid. The phenomenon of the enrichment of chemical substances at the surface of a solid is called adsorption. All adsorption processes are dependent on solid-liquid equilibria and on mass transfer rates [24]. If the mass transfer is in opposite direction then it is called desorption. Most adsorbents are highly porous materials, and adsorption takes place primarily on the walls of the pores or at the specific sites inside the particle. Separation occurs because differences in molecular weight, shape, or polarity cause some molecules to be held more strongly on the surface than others or because the pores are too small to admit the larger molecules. The overall rate of adsorption is controlled by the rate of diffusion of solute within the capillary pores of the adsorbent. The adsorption operation can be batch, semi-batch and continuous. Batch operations are generally conducted when small amounts are to be treated. The equilibrium distribution depends on the contact time in batch operation [25].

In semi-batch operations, a reactant may be added with no product removal, or a product may be removed with no reactant addition, or a combination of both. From a process systems point of view, the key feature that differentiates continuous processes from batch and semi-batch processes is that continuous processes have a steady state, whereas batch and semi-batch processes do not [26].

1.1.2. Types of Adsorption

At molecular level, adsorption is due to attractive interactions between a surface and the species being adsorbed.

a. Physical Adsorption: It is a result of intermolecular forces of attraction between molecules of the adsorbent and the adsorbate. In this case the molecular attractive forces that retain the adsorbate on the surface are purely physical are called Vander Walls forces. This is a readily reversible phenomenon. The energy of interaction between the adsorbate and adsorbent has the same order of magnitudes as, but is usually greater than the energy of condensation of the adsorptive. Therefore, no activation energy is needed.

b. Chemical Adsorption: It is a result of chemical interaction between the solid and the adsorbed substance. It is also called activated adsorption which is irreversible. It is particularly important in catalysis. Therefore, the energy of chemisorptions considered like chemical reaction. It may be exothermic or endothermic processes ranging from very small to very large magnitudes. The elementary step in chemisorptions often involves large activation energy (Activated adsorption). Adsorption has been found to be superior compared to the other techniques for water reuse in terms initial cost, flexibility and simplicity of design, ease of operation and insensitivity to toxic pollutants and does not result in formation of harmful substances [27].

1.1.3. Adsorption at Activated Carbon Surface

Adsorption by activated carbon is one of the effective techniques for chromium removal from wastewater because of high surface area, highly porous character and relatively low-cost. The use of activated carbon for removing chromium from wastewater has been received a great attention from decades [28]. Activated carbon was especially known for the effectiveness in removing organic chemicals from wastewater and also for removal of inorganic and heavy metal pollutants in laboratory as well as in industries [29]. Activated carbon can be prepared from readily available carbonaceous precursors such as coal [30], wood [31], coconut shells [32] and agricultural wastes [33], etc. They are extensively used in water treatment [34]. These carbonaceous materials possess the potential for the removal of inorganic and organic pollutants from effluent streams. The activated carbon possesses a

significant weak acidic ion exchange character so as to remove trace metal contaminants and to adsorb pollutants from wastewater [35].

The adsorption capacity of AC depends not only on its surface area, but also on its internal pore structure and surface characteristic. To reduce the cost of mass production, an inexpensive and local raw material with high carbon and low ash contents is preferred as precursor for preparing AC [36]. Various carbon materials have unique pore distributions, which result from the precursors and processes involved. Pores are formed within the particles of a fine powder, the primary particles, or in the aggregated secondary particles that are formed when primary particles stick together. The total surface area of a fine powder is the sum of the pore wall area of all the pore sizes [37].

Chromium is one of the contaminants which exist in hexavalent and trivalent forms. Trivalent chromium is an essential element in human nutrition and is much less toxic than the hexavalent one, which is recognized as a carcinogenic and mutagenic agent [1]. Chromium compounds are widely used by different industries, so huge quantity of wastewater containing chromium is discharged into the environment. Removal of Cr (VI) from wastewater is essential before disposal.

1.1.4. Removal of Cr (VI) by adsorption

Adsorption is an effective and flexible method for removing chromium. Natural materials that are available in large quantities or certain waste products from industrial or agricultural operations may have potential as inexpensive adsorbents [15]. Attempts have been made by a number of investigators to find cheap adsorbents from locally available biomass and further investigation need to be made to achieve the most suitable adsorbents and describe the chemistry behind the adsorption process.

In this study, adsorbents such as avocado kernel seeds, Papaya peels and juniperus procera sawdust were studied as potential adsorbents for chromium (VI).

2. Literature Review

Adsorption is widely used as effective physical method of separation in order to eliminate or lower the concentration of a wide range of dissolved pollutants (organics or inorganics) in the effluent [38]. The various solutes on a solid remain an active area of research [39]. The importance of adsorption is seen in the need for choosing effective adsorbent for the adsorption or purification needs. The determination of adsorption capacity is a necessary advantage for selecting adsorbent [40].

The removal of toxic metal ions from wastewater is an important and widely studied research area. One of the heavy metal that has been a major focus in wastewater treatment is chromium. The toxicity caused by hexavalent chromium is high and therefore priority is given to regulate this pollutant at the discharged level. In recent years, the researchers have developed many biomass adsorbents to remove the heavy metals from aqueous solution. The adsorption of chromium (VI) from the aqueous phase on dried roots of water hyacinth revealed a very high degree of removal efficiency (almost 100%) [41]. Beech (*Fagus orientalis* L.) sawdust had shown 100% as maximum adsorption efficiency at pH 1 [42]. The maximum Cr (VI) ion percentage removal of walnut (*Juglans regia*), hazelnut (*Corylus avellana*) and almond (*Prunus dulcis*) were 88.46% and 55.00% respectively [43].

The removal rate of Cr (VI) depended on the types of biomaterials; the pine needle completely removes Cr (VI) in 5 h while Ecklonia and rice husk needed 126 h and 1270 h for the complete removal of Cr (VI) respectively [44]. The biosorption by various biosorbents such as coconut shell, wheat bran and rice bran have been reported. Coconut shell had 80% removal [45] and wheat bran had 87.8% removal in 1 h at pH 2 [46]. The rice bran as an adsorbent is used to remove the metal ions from aqueous solutions and the sorption capacity was strongly dependent on the nature and the initial metal ions concentration, initial pH and rice bran concentration showed 0.069 mg/g Freundlich adsorption capacity [47]. Adsorption capacities of some other adsorbents of food waste such as cooked waste tea (30.39 mg/g) [48] and potato peel waste (8.012 mg/g) are also reported [49]. Along with this agro waste such as sunflower stem was investigated for removal of Cr (VI) with adsorption technique. Pre-boiled sunflower stem and formaldehyde treated

sunflower stem have 4.9 and 3.6 mg/g adsorption capacity and 81.7 and 76.5% removal efficiency of Cr (VI) respectively [50]. Oak saw dust soaked by HCl [51], rice straw [52] and almond shells [53] were found to show 93.4%, 95.4% and 98.00% removal of Cr (VI) respectively. The Cr (VI) removal of rosewood sawdust that was treated with H_2SO_4 and formaldehyde was found to be 99.8% and 87.8% respectively [54].

Many reports have appeared on the development of low-cost activated carbon from renewable resources and also how to purify water in an environmentally friendly manner [55-57]. Agricultural and industrial waste materials such as Hazelnut-AC [58], Neem leaves [59], Black tea leaves [60], Nitric-oxidized CAC [61], Waste tyre [62], Leaf mould [63], Alligator weed [64], Alfa grass [65], etc. have been utilized as activated carbon precursors by a large number of researchers for the removal of heavy metals.

Carbon nanotubes (CNTs) have attracted great attention because of their small size, large surface area, unique hollow structure, high mechanical strength and remarkable electrical conductivity. According to the carbon atom layers on the sidewalls of the nanotubes, CNTs can be visualized as a sheet of graphite that has been rolled into a tube and divided into single walled carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) and multi walled carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs). The oxidized MWCNT may be promising materials in environmental pollution management [66]. MWCNT developed by chemical vapor deposition of acetylene in hydrogen flow at 1033 K using Ni-Fe nanoparticles as catalysts (Fe (NO₃)₂ and Ni (NO₃)₂ were treated by sol-gel process and calcinations to get FeO and NiO and then deoxidized by H₂ to get Fe and Ni as catalysts. The developed MWCNTs were used to remove Cr (VI), which shows the maximum adsorption capacity to be 4.434 and 4.2615 mg/g in two cases [67]. Researchers found no functionalized multi-walled carbon nanotubes which showed the highest adsorption capability up to 98% of a 100 ppb Cr (VI) solution being adsorbed [68].

In another case imidazole functionalized sol-gel adsorbent had 152 mg/g adsorption capacity [69] while montmorillonite-supported magnetite nanoparticles prepared by coprecipitation and hydrosol method show the 20.16 mg/g and 13.88 mg/g adsorption capacity respectively while unsupported magnetite had 10.6 mg/g adsorption capacity [70].

CNTs showed exceptionally high sorption capacity and efficiency for Pb (II), Cd (II) and Cr (VI) from water. They were found as good adsorbents for multi-component sorption of

metal ions [35]. The factors affecting the sorption of transition metal ions on oxidized CNTs and found that the sorption mechanisms were governed by the surface features, ion exchange process and electrochemical potential [71].

The removal of divalent metal ions $(Cd^{2+}, Cu^{2+}, Ni^{2+}, Pb^{2+}, Zn^{2+})$ from aqueous solution using various kinds of CNTs and suggested that CNTs are promising adsorbents for environmental protection application because of the superior sorption capacity and effective desorption of divalent metal ions [72].

Activated carbon adsorption seems to be an attractive choice for chromium removal both for its removal efficiency and for the rapid adaptation to pollutant loading alteration. For these reasons, activated carbon adsorption has been widely used for the treatment of wastewater containing chromium. Adsorption isotherms of chromium ions in aqueous solution on a granular activated carbon (GAC) and on a Char of South African coal (CSAC) have been studied. The adsorption capacity for the GAC strongly depends on pH of solution and salinity with maximum values around 7 mg/g at neutral pH and low salinity levels. The CSAC shows a smaller adsorption capacity near 0.3 mg/g which slightly decreases by increasing pH and salinity levels [73]. Fresh activated carbon and waste activated carbon that were pretreated by heating with mineral acids H₂SO₄ and HNO₃ at high temperature to prepare several grades of adsorbents and their Langmuir isotherm maximum adsorption capacities were reported to be 7.485 and 10.929 mg/g respectively [74]. A composite adsorbent was prepared by coating poly (4-vinylpyridine) on a granular activated carbon followed by cross-linking and quaternization processes which estimated maximum equilibrium uptake of Cr (VI) 53.7 mg/g at pH 2.25 [75].

However, commercially available activated carbons may be expensive and for this reason the knowledge of the optimal working conditions to maximize the adsorbent capture capacity is required. Similarly, the production of low cost, not reusable adsorbents for chromium removal is also worth considering. In recent years, development of surface modified activated carbons using plant biomass is generating a diversity of activated carbon with superior adsorption capacity. These are available in large quantities and can be disposed of without regeneration due to their lower cost. A variety of natural plant biomass like bael fruit (*Aegle marmelos correa*) shell had shown 17.27 mg/g adsorption capacity [76].

The low cost agricultural waste by-products such as sugarcane bagasse [77, 78], rice husk [79] and neem bark [80] for the elimination of heavy metals from wastewater have been investigated by various researchers. Cost is an important parameter for comparing the sorbent materials. However, cost information is seldom reported and the expense of individual sorbents varies depending on the degree of processing required and local availability. In general, an adsorbent can be termed as a low cost adsorbent if it requires little processing is abundant in nature or is a by-product or waste material. Of course improved sorption capacity may compensate the cost of additional processing [81]. Therefore, there is an urgent need that all possible sources of agro-based low-priced adsorbents should be explored and their feasibility for the removal of Cr (VI) should be studied.

In this study, untreated and activated carbon adsorbents were developed from locally available adsorbents and applied for removal of Cr (VI) from aqueous solution and wastewater. The adsorption isotherms, kinetic and thermodynamic models were discussed successively. The activated carbons developed from juniperus procera sawdust, avocado kernel seed and papaya peel were economical and environmentally friendly and so they were used for further application.

3. Statement of the problem

Clean drinking water is one of the understood basics for the health of humans. However, the growing industrialization and extensive use of chemicals for various concerns has increased the burden of unwanted pollutants of drinking water in developing and developed countries all over the world. Heavy metal like Cr (VI) which is especially a tannery waste has a great concern because of its extreme toxicity even at trace concentration. Since it is impossible to prevent completely these chemicals from draining into the drinking water sources, the researchers' devised different conventional and advanced methods such as chemical precipitation, electrochemical reduction, sulphide precipitation and so on. However, the application of such methods is cost intensive and is unaffordable for large scale treatment of wastewater. Thus, the way to maintain safer water bodies are using of efficient purifying technologies. One such beneficial and successful procedure that has been in use is that of purification of water using natural and modified adsorbents. Several natural adsorbents are being used for treatment of contaminated drinking water and its sources [82].

Adsorption has been described as an effective separation process for treating industrial and domestic effluents [83]. Therefore, in this study, this method was applied in the removal of highly toxic chromium (VI) from both aqueous solution and wastewater using various locally available low-cost adsorbents such as avocado kernel seed, papaya peel and juniperus procera sawdust because they are friendly to the environment.

4. Objectives of the study

4.1. General objective

✤To investigate kinetic and thermodynamic of Cr (VI) adsorption onto locally available adsorbents.

4.2. Specific objectives

- > Determine the adsorption efficiencies of some selected local adsorbents.
- Determine the effects of parameters such as pH, mass of adsorbents, initial concentration, contact time and temperature on the adsorption efficiencies of adsorbents.
- > Describe the responsible adsorption isotherm models.
- Assess the kinetic and thermodynamic of the adsorption of chromium (VI) onto the adsorbents.
- > Apply the adsorbents to the removal of chromium from tannery wastewater.

5. Significance of the study

In order to meet the growing require of drinking water and water of good quality for industrial use, it has become necessary to treat wastewater for renewal, reuse, and pollutant removal before mixing with natural water bodies containing good quality water. Various methods have been adopted to treat wastewater for pollution control. Adsorption was found to be as one of the most widely used means. Natural biomasses have long been known as adsorbents for metal ions and offer alternative means for costly adsorbents known by their high adsorption capacity.

In this study, locally available adsorbents were investigated to evaluate their efficiency and suitability as part of the effort to find less costly and environmentally friendly adsorbents.

6. Materials and Methods

6.1. Chemicals and Materials

6.1.1. Chemicals

The chemicals used for this study were: sulfuric acid, H₂SO₄ (98%, UNI-CHEM, Germany), hydrochloric acid, HCl (37%, Riedel-deHaën, Germany), potassium hydroxide, KOH (90%, BDH, England), potassium dichromate, K₂Cr₂O₇ (99.5%, FINKEM, England), glacial acetic acid, CH₃COOH (\geq 99.99%, Riedel-deHaën, Germany), sodium acetate, CH₃COONa (\geq 98%, Riedel-deHaën, Germany), ammonia, NH₃ (23-25%, Mumbai, India), ammonium chloride, NH₄Cl (\geq 99.5%, Riedel-deHaën, Germany) and methylene blue, C₁₆H₁₈N₃ClS.3H₂O (\geq 96%, Cyanamid, America). All chemicals used in this study were analytical reagent grade and were used without further purification.

6.1.2. Materials

The materials used for this study were: standard sieves (Model DSCO 1674 JPG, 150 μ m, UK), 'A' shape size clay type crucibles, volumetric flasks, conical flasks, beakers, droppers, mortar and pestle.

6.1.3. Instruments

The instruments used for this study were: Oven (Model GENLAB WIDNES, England), Electrical furnace (Model Nebertherm, Germany), Thermostatic water bath shaker (Model Grant GLS 400, England), pH meter (HANNA instruments, pH 211), Electronic balance that can measure up to 110 g (Model AFP-110L, ADAM, China), Atomic Absorption spectroscopy (AAS) (Model analytik Jena Nov AA 300, Germany) and UV-visible spectrophotometer (Model DR 5000, Hach USA).

6.1.4. Adsorbents

Avocado and papaya fresh rips were bought from local market in Jimma town. The avocado kernel seeds were taken from the interior part of avocado fruits. The papaya peels were obtained from the outer part of papaya fruits which is normally taken as waste and juniperus procera sawdust was collected from woodwork enterprises that produce furniture in the Jimma town, Oromia.

6.2. Methods

6.2.1. Preparation of stock solution

A stock solution of chromium (VI) with a concentration of 1000 mg/L was prepared by dissolving 2.829 g of potassium dichromate ($K_2Cr_2O_7$) in 1000 mL distilled water. The working solution was prepared by diluting the stock solution with distilled water to give the appropriate concentration (10 mg/L) of the solution.

6.2.2. Preparation of untreated adsorbents

The adsorbents that were collected from local area are avocado kernel seeds, papaya peels and sawdust. After avocado kernel seeds were cut into small sizes all of the adsorbents were allowed to be air dried for twenty days in the laboratory. The dried adsorbents, avocado kernel seeds and papaya peels were washed by distilled water and again allowed to be dried for three days. After three days the avocado kernel seeds and papaya peels were dried in the oven at 105 °C for 26 h and 7 h respectively which is the time at which their masses become constant. Then the two adsorbents (i.e., avocado kernel seeds and papaya peels) were grinded and three of them were sieved by the standard test sieve of 150 μ m mesh size before used for adsorption study [84].

6.2.3. Preparation of activated carbon adsorbents

The dried, grinded and sieved biomasses were soaked in sulfuric acid solution at 1:1 (weight/volume). The mixtures were dried in an oven for 24 h at 105 $^{\circ}$ C. The dried biomasses/H₂SO₄ mixtures then were put in crucibles and placed in an electrical furnace (Model Nebertherm, Germany) for carbonization.

The heating rate of carbonization was 10 °C/min and continues until the final temperature of 450 °C was reached and it was kept at this temperature for an optimum time of 30 min, 60 min and 90 min for juniperus procera sawdust, papaya peels and avocado kernel seeds respectively [85]. The produced new materials were then cooled down to room temperature. Then they are referred to as "activated carbons" of the precursor.

To remove the impurities, the activated carbons were washed several times with distilled water until the washed water pHs becomes that of the distilled water (nearly 7) [86]. The washed activated carbons were dried at 105 °C for 6 h (i.e., the time at which their constant masses were obtained) in the oven and grinded into fine particles of 150 μ m (sieve size).

6.2.4. Determination of concentration of chromium by atomic absorption spectroscopy

Flame atomic absorption spectroscopy was used for the analysis of chromium at the optimized parameters (Table 1) that gave maximum response for the metal ion.

Element	λ/ nm	DL/mg.L ⁻¹	SW/ nm	Current/mA	Burner height /mm
Cr	357.9	0.001	0.2	5	8

Table 1: Parameters for AAS at which the chromium ion was analyzed

Where: λ : wave length, DL: detection limit and SW: slit width

6.2.5. Determination of adsorption efficiency

The adsorption efficiency studies were carried out after adjusting the pH values before and after adding a measured mass of the adsorbent of interest into 30 mL of the metal ion solution and shaken in thermostatic water bath shaker (Model Grant GLS 400) at the speed of 200 rpm. Depending on the parameters under study, the pH, adsorbents dose, initial metal ion concentration, contact time or temperature were varied to study the adsorption efficiencies. The residue was filtered after the time of adsorption was completed. The final concentration of chromium left in the filtrates was analyzed using atomic absorption spectrophotometer. Then the adsorption efficiency (%), the amount of Cr (VI) adsorbed at

equilibrium, q_e (mg/g) and at time t (min), q_t (mg/g), were calculated according to the expressions [87, 88]:

%Cr(VI) removal =
$$(C_o - C_e) \times 100$$
 (1)
 C_o

$$q_e = (C_o - C_e) X V$$
(2)

$$q_t = \underbrace{(C_o - C_f) X V}_{M}$$
(3)

Where:

 C_o = initial concentration (mg/L) (i.e., concentration of Cr (VI) ion before adsorption)

 C_e = equilibrium concentration (mg/L) (i.e., concentration of Cr (VI) ion after adsorption)

 C_f = final concentration (mg/L) of Cr (VI) ion in solution at time, t (min).

V = volume of solution (L)

M = mass of the adsorbents (g)

6.2.6. Specific surface area determination

The surface areas (S_A) of the adsorbents (m²/g) were determined by the methylene blue adsorption method. Accordingly, a stock solution of 1000 mg/L was prepared by dissolving 1.127 g Methylene blue (MB) in 1000 mL distilled water [89]. The experimental solution was prepared by diluting the stock solution with distilled water in the range of 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 mg/L. An adsorption study was carried out by adding 0.4 g of each of the adsorbents in 50 mL of working solutions (10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 mg/L) and agitated for 1 h in a thermostatic water bath shaker at 150 rpm. After adsorption time was completed the adsorbents were removed from the solutions and the final concentration of MB in each solution was determined at 630 nm wave length of UV-visible spectrophotometer that was used to calculate Q_m from the intercepts of the plots of C_e / q_e versus C_e using Langmuir isotherm equation (4) for all of the adsorbents [90]:

$$C_e / q_e = 1 / K_L Q_m + (1 / Q_m) C_e$$
 (4)

Where q_e is the amount of methylene blue adsorbed (mg/g) at equilibrium, C_e is the equilibrium concentration of methylene blue (mg/L) (i.e., the concentration of methylene blue left after adsorption), Q_m and K_L is Langmuir constants related to the maximum adsorption capacity (mg/g) and energy of adsorption (L/mg) respectively.

The surface areas of the adsorbents were estimated using equation (5) [91]:

$$S_{A} = (6.023 \text{ x } 10^{23} \text{ x } A_{o} \text{ x } Q_{m}) / (100 \text{ x } M)$$
(5)

Where A_o is the area occupied by one molecule of methylene blue which is 197.2 $(A^o)^2$ and Q_m is related maximum adsorption capacity of adsorbents. M is the molecular weight of methylene blue [90].

6.2.7. Study of the effect of pH

The study of effect of pH on the adsorption of the metal ion was done by contacting 0.5 g of both the untreated and activated carbon adsorbents with 30 mL of 10 mg/L concentration of Cr (VI) ion solution within buffer solution ranging from pH 1 to 9. The pH of each solution was adjusted to the desire values by drop wise addition of 0.1 M HCl and/or 0.1 M KOH both before and after adsorbents of 0.5 g were added to 30 mL of working solution. The flasks containing the mixture were left in a thermostatic water bath shaker and shaken at 200 rpm and 25 °C for 180 min. The biomasses were removed from the solution by filtration. The residual metal ion concentration left in the solutions was analyzed. Then the optimum pH was determined as the pH with the highest adsorption efficiency of metal ion.

6.2.8. Study of the effect of adsorbents dose

The adsorption of Cr (VI) ion by untreated and activated carbons of avocado kernel seeds, papaya peels and saw dust at different adsorbent doses in the range of 0.1-0.7 g was investigated. This was carried out by adding a weighed mass of adsorbents (0.1, 0.2, 0.3, 0.4, 0.5, 0.6 and 0.7 g) in 30 mL of 10 mg/L Cr (VI) by keeping other variables constant (at optimal pH of US, UA, UP and ACS 1, but for ACA 2 and for ACP 3, shaking speed = 200 rpm, contact time = 180 min and temperature = 25 °C). After adsorption time was completed

the adsorbents were removed from the solution and the concentration of residual metal ion in each solution was determined using AAS.

6.2.9. Study of the effect of initial chromium (VI) concentration

In order to determine the effect of initial chromium (VI) concentration on the adsorption efficiency, the batch adsorption study onto all of the adsorbents was done by introducing various chromium concentration (5, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 mg/L) of 30 mL in conical flasks keeping constant the pH of US, UA, UP and ACS 1, but for ACA 2 and for ACP 3, adsorbents dose (0.5 g), shaking speed (200 rpm), contact time (180 min) and temperature (25 °C). Then conical flasks were left in a thermostatic water bath shaker and shaken. After adsorption time was completed the adsorbents were removed from the solution and the concentration of residual metal ion in each solution was determined using AAS.

6.2.10. Study of the effect of contact time

The adsorption of Cr (VI) ions by untreated and activated carbon adsorbents were studied at various adsorption times (10, 40, 70, 100, 130, 160 and 180 min). This was done by weighing 0.5 g of each of the adsorbents into the conical flasks containing 30 mL of 5 mg/L of Cr (VI) ion solutions at the optimized pH and the flasks were shaken in thermostatic water bath shaker at 200 rpm (25 0 C) for various period of time. The solutions in the conical flasks were filtered at different time intervals from the first to the last flask. The filtrates were then taken for analysis using an atomic absorption spectrophotometer.

6.2.11. Study of the effect of temperature

The batch adsorption process was studied at different temperatures $(20-45^{\circ}C)$ in order to investigate the effect of temperature on the adsorption process by keeping other parameters constant (pH of US, UA, UP and ACS at 1, pH of ACA at 2, pH of ACP at 3, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g and 5 mg/L of Cr (VI) ion) at 200 rpm for 160 min.

6.2.12. Preparation of real sample

Effluent at discharge point from Mojo tannery (which is a private leather tanning industry in Mojo, Oromia) was collected. To study the efficiencies of the adsorbents for the removal of chromium from the effluent which had pH 4.95 and 4085 mg/L initial chromium concentration, 30 mL of effluent was measured and added into equal (50 mL) conical flasks and the pH was adjusted to their corresponding optimum values (US, UA, UP and ACS of pH 1, ACA of pH 2 and ACP of pH 3) by drop wise addition of 0.1 M HCl and/or 0.1 M KOH before and after addition of 0.5 g of both kinds of adsorbents (i.e., untreated and activated carbon adsorbents) within buffer solution. Then they were shaken in thermostatic water bath shaker at the speed of 200 rpm and temperature of 40 $^{\circ}$ C for 160 min. After completion of the shaking time the solutions were filtered and made ready for analysis but since the chromium concentration (4085 mg/L) initially in the effluent was high in order to study the efficiencies of the adsorbents for this real sample, the solutions were diluted by taking 100µL in 50 mL volumetric flask and analyzed using AAS.

6.2.13. Statistical analysis

Triplicate measures were considered during the determination of Cr (VI) ion using AAS and the obtained results were analyzed by averaging the values. The curve fittings of the data obtained were performed using Microcal Origin 8.0 software.

7. Results and Discussion

In this batch adsorption experiment, different parameters such as effect of pH, adsorbents dose, initial chromium (VI) ion concentration, contact time and temperature were studied in order to determine the efficiencies of adsorbents to remove chromium both from aqueous solution and wastewater. The data collected from these studies is used to describe the responsible adsorption isotherm models and to assess the kinetic and thermodynamic of the adsorption of chromium (VI) onto some selected local adsorbents. The specific surface areas of the adsorbents were also determined.

7.1. Specific surface area

The specific surface area of adsorbent is the ratio of its surface area to its mass and the measured surface area is mainly based on the amount of surface exposed particles. The extent of adsorption is usually relative to specific surface area of adsorbent available [92]. The surface areas (S_A) of the adsorbents (m^2/g) that were determined by the methylene blue adsorption method are shown in Table (2) below and the results obtained revealed that the adsorption capacity of the adsorbents increases with increasing specific surface area as reported in various studies [93, 94].

Adsorbents	Surface area (m^2g^{-1})
US	6.25
ACS	33.07
UA	5.04
ACA	8.36
UP	3.67
ACP	3.92

Table 2: Determined	specific surface	areas of the a	dsorbents (r	n²/g	;)
---------------------	------------------	----------------	--------------	------	----

7.2. Effect of pH on adsorption of Cr (VI)

Solution pH is one of the most important parameter that affects adsorption of metal ions by influencing the surface properties of the adsorbents and ionic forms of the chromium solutions [95]. The pH of the chromium solutions were adjusted before and after adding adsorbents and its optimization was carried out by studying the extent of removal of Cr (VI) by a fixed mass (0.5 g) of the adsorbents from 30 mL of 10 mg/L solutions of the Cr (VI) ion in the pH range of 1-9 at 25 $^{\circ}$ C for 180 min. As it is shown in Figure 1 and 2, maximum adsorption was observed at pH 1 for all of untreated adsorbents (i.e., sawdust = 98.18%, avocado kernel seed = 96.35% and papaya peel = 94.58%) and activated carbon of sawdust (i.e., 99.71%). But for activated carbon of avocado kernel seed at pH 2 was 98.42% and for activated carbon of papaya peel at pH 3 was 95.85%.



Figure 1: Effect of pH on adsorption of Cr (VI) onto US, UA and UP ([Cr (VI)]:10 mg/L, pH: 1-9, shaking speed: 200 rpm, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g, contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 2: Effect of pH for adsorption of Cr (VI) onto ACS, ACA and ACP ([Cr (VI)]:10 mg/L, pH: 1-9, shaking speed: 200 rpm, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g, contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).

It was found that adsorption efficiencies of adsorbents were slightly decreased from lower pH values to higher ones. Similar trends were also reported by other investigators [54, 96]. More adsorption at acidic pH indicates that the lower pH results in an increase in H⁺ ions on the adsorbents surface that results in significantly strong electrostatic attraction between positively charged adsorbents surface and chromate ions [86]. Lower adsorption of Cr (VI) at maximum pH values may be due to the dual competition of both the chromate anions and OH⁻ to be adsorbed on the surface of the adsorbents of which OH⁻ predominates. The favorable effect at low pH can be attributed to the neutralization of negative charges on the surface of the adsorbents by excess hydrogen ions, there by facilitating the diffusion of the hydrogen chromate ion (HCrO₄⁻) and its subsequent adsorption, because HCrO₄⁻ is the dominant anionic form of Cr (VI) at lower pH [97].

At pH 1, the chromium ions exist in the form of H₂CrO₄, while in the pH range of 1-6 different forms of chromium ions such as $Cr_2O_7^{2-}$, $HCrO_4^{-}$, $Cr_3O_{10}^{2-}$, $Cr_4O_{13}^{2-}$ coexist of which $HCrO_4^{-}$ predominates. As pH increases this form shifts to CrO_4^{2-} and $Cr_2O_7^{2-}$.

Chromium exists in different oxidation states and the stability of these forms depends upon the pH of the system [98]. Thus it was found that removal of Cr (VI) ions from solution was strongly dependent up on pH values and in view of these observations, the values of pH (for US, UA, UP & ACS: 1, ACA: 2 & ACP: 3) was taken as the optimum pH for further experimental studies.

7.3. Effect of adsorbents dose

Adsorbents dose variation experiment is one of the significant parts of the study that determines the capacity of adsorbents for a given initial concentration of Cr (VI) at the operating circumstances. Thus the experiments were carried out under the conditions described earlier and varying adsorbents dose only from the range 0.1-0.7 g at 25 °C because of operational cost. The effect of adsorbents dose on the adsorption of chromium (VI) by those adsorbents are shown in Figure 3 and 4 below.



Figure 3: Effect of dose on the removal efficiencies of US, UA and UP ([Cr (VI)]: 10 mg/L, pH: 1 for all, shaking speed: 200 rpm, contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 4: Effect of dose on the removal efficiencies of ACS, ACA and ACP ([Cr (VI)]: 10 mg/L, pH: 1, 2 and 3 for ACS, ACA and ACP respectively, shaking speed: 200 rpm, contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).

As it is illustrated in Figure 3 and 4, the Cr (VI) removal efficiencies increases with increase in adsorbents dose and reach a saturation level at high doses (i.e., starting from 0.5 g of the adsorbents) for both of untreated and activated carbon adsorbents. The increase of removal efficiencies with increase of adsorbents mass until 0.5 g is because contact surface of adsorbents particle increase for adsorbate and it would be more probable for HCrO₄⁻ and $Cr_2O_7^{2^-}$ ions to be adsorbed on adsorption sites and also the remained constant removal efficiencies at adsorbents quantities higher than 0.5 g is probably because of the resistance to mass transfer of Cr (VI) from bulk liquid to the surface of the solids [99].

Various reasons have been also suggested to explain the steady in adsorption efficiencies at maximum adsorbents dose including availability of solute, electrostatic interaction and interference between binding sites [100]. Explicitly stated the number of adsorption sites per unit mass of an adsorbents remains constant or in other words the effective surface area of adsorbents decreases. Similar results have been reported in the study on adsorption of Cr (VI) and Ni (II) [97, 101].

7.4. Effect of initial chromium (VI) concentration

The uptake of chromium on untreated and activated carbon adsorbents was studied at optimal pH values, the adsorbents dose of 0.5 g, shaking speed (200 rpm), contact time (180 min) and temperature of 25 $^{\circ}$ C. The initial chromium concentrations studied were (5, 10, 20, 30, 40 and 50 mg/L) and the percentage of sorption is given in the following Figures.



Figure 5: Effect of initial concentration on the removal of Cr (VI) by US, UA and UP (pH: 1 for all, shaking speed: 200 rpm, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g, contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 6: Effect of initial concentration on the removal of Cr (VI) by ACS, ACA and ACP (pH: 1, 2 and 3 for ACS, ACA and ACP respectively, shaking speed: 200 rpm, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g, contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).

As it is shown in Figure 5 and 6, the effect of initial chromium (VI) concentration on the removal efficiencies of adsorbents were determined and the percentage of Cr (VI) ions adsorption was decreased with increasing initial concentration from 5-50 mg/L. This is because at lower concentration there are sufficient active sites that the sorbate can easily occupy. However, at higher concentrations, active sorption sites are not sufficiently available for the sorbate to occupy. Hence, Cr (VI) ions were not completely adsorbed from solutions due to the saturation of binding sites. In addition, the electrostatic repulsion between negative charges of adsorbate ions results in the decrease of the adsorption percentage [97]. These results are consistent with other investigators work [102].

7.5. Effect of contact time

One of the most important parameter that the amount of metal ion adsorbed depends also is that the contact time taken for adsorption equilibrium to be established which should be as small as possible so that it can be used to remove contaminants in lesser time. Thus, for removal of pollutants, one looks to adsorbents that showing fast adsorption kinetic. The time dependent behavior of Cr (VI) uptake adsorption onto the adsorbents was measured by varying the contact time in the range of 10-180 minutes and the following results were obtained.



Figure 7: Effect of contact time on the Cr (VI) removal by US, UA and UP ([Cr (VI)]: 5 mg/L, pH: 1 for all and shaking speed: 200 rpm, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g and temperature: 25 ^oC).



Figure 8: Effect of contact time on Cr (VI) removal by ACS, ACA and ACP ([Cr (VI): 5 mg/L, pH: 1, 2 and 3 for ACS, ACA and ACP respectively, shaking speed: 200 rpm, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g and temperature: 25 °C).

The adsorption efficiencies of Cr (VI) removal by these adsorbents found to increase with increase in contact time and maximum percentages of adsorption occurred at 160 min as indicated in Figure 7 and 8 for all of the adsorbents and thereafter, it becomes constant. The initial rapid rate of adsorption may be due to the availability of the vacant surfaces of the adsorbents for anionic Cr (VI) species removal present in the solution. The later slow adsorption rate could be due to the electrostatic hindrance caused by already adsorbed adsorbate species and the slow pore diffusion of the ions [103]. In general, by the time adsorption involves a surface reaction process, the initial rate of adsorption is fast. Then a slower adsorption would follow as the available adsorption sites which are slowly decreased. This is due to the fact that a huge number of unoccupied surface sites are available for adsorption during the initial stage and after ascend of time the remaining unoccupied surface site are difficult to be occupied due to repulsive forces between the solute molecules on the solid and bulk phases [104]. Then from the results obtained the optimum contact time for adsorption onto adsorbents was fixed to be 160 min.

7.6. Effect of temperature

Temperature is an important parameter to determine the thermodynamic of adsorption process. Accordingly, because of high operational cost, the percentage of Cr (VI) adsorption was performed as a function of temperature only in the range of 20 $^{\circ}$ C-45 $^{\circ}$ C onto both untreated and activated carbon adsorbents and the results obtained are presented in Figure 9 and 10.



Figure 9: Effect of temperature on Cr (VI) removal by US, UA and UP ([Cr (VI): 5 mg/L, pH: 1 for all, shaking speed: 200 rpm, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g, contact time: 160 min).



Figure 10: Effect of temperature on chromium (VI) removal by ACS, ACA and ACP ([Cr (VI): 5 mg/L, pH: 1, 2 and 3 for ACS, ACA and ACP respectively, shaking speed: 200 rpm, adsorbents dose: 0.5 g, contact time: 160 min).

The percent removal of Cr (VI) was generally increased with increase of temperature from 20 °C-40 °C and shown decreasing after 40 °C when the other conditions were kept constant. It was observed that the adsorption efficiencies increased from 98.18% to 99.24% for US, 96.35% to 97.22% for UA, 94.58% to 95.44% for UP and 99.71% to 99.98% for ACS, 98.42% to 99.50% for ACA and 95.85% to 96.34% for ACP as the temperature was increased from 25 °C to 40 °C. The enhancement in the adsorption efficiencies for some range of temperature may be due to the chemical interaction between adsorbate and adsorbents, creation of some new adsorption sites or the increased rate of intraparticle diffusion of Cr (VI) ions into the pores of the adsorbents at higher temperatures. The decrease in percentage of adsorption after temperature of 40 °C may be due to desorption caused by an increase of the available thermal energy that may damage the active binding sites of adsorbents. Higher temperature induces higher mobility of the adsorbate causing desorption [105, 106].

7.7. Adsorption isotherm study

Adsorption is usually described through an isotherm. The adsorption isotherm indicates how the adsorbed molecules distribute between the liquid phase and the solid phase when the adsorption process reaches an equilibrium state [97]. The adsorption capacity and also the performance of the adsorbents were usually predicted from equilibrium sorption isotherm [107]. It also reported that adsorption isotherm is very useful in choosing the best adsorbent for adsorption or purification need. Several models describe the process of adsorption. Although many theories of adsorption have been put forward to explain the phenomena of adsorption, the isotherms of Langmuir and Freundlich have been widely used by several researchers [38].

The Langmuir isotherm is based on the theoretical principle that only a single adsorption layer exists on an adsorbents and it represents the equilibrium distribution of metal ions between the solid and liquid phases. The basic assumption of the Langmuir adsorption process is the formation of a monolayer for adsorbate on the outer surface of the adsorbent and after that no further adsorption takes place. The Freundlich adsorption isotherm is an indicator of the extent of heterogeneity of the adsorbents surface, i.e. the adsorptive sites (surface of untreated and activated carbon adsorbents) are made up of small heterogeneous adsorption patches that are homogeneous in themselves. The activation of adsorption sites takes place, leading to increased adsorption probably through the surface exchange mechanism [106].

The linear forms of the Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms are represented by the equations (6) and (7):

Langmuir isotherm equation:

$$C_e / q_e = 1 / K_L Q_m + (1 / Q_m) C_e$$
 (6)

Where q_e is the amount of Cr (VI) ion adsorbed (mg/g) at equilibrium, C_e is the equilibrium concentration of the adsorbate (mg/L) (i.e., the concentration of Cr (VI) ion left after adsorption), Q_m and K_L is Langmuir constants related to the maximum adsorption capacity (mg/g) and energy of adsorption (L/mg) respectively.

Freundlich isotherm equation:

$$Log q_e = \log K_F + 1/n \log C_e$$
⁽⁷⁾

Where q_e is the amount of Cr (VI) ion adsorbed (mg/g) at equilibrium, K_F is the Freundlich constant, n is the heterogeneity factor which is related to the capacity and intensity of the adsorption and C_e is the equilibrium concentration (mg/L).Value of 1/n ranges from 0 to 1 and the closer this value to zero, the more heterogeneous the adsorbent surface. The isotherm constants of Langmuir and Freundlich were calculated from the slope and intercept of the plots of C_e / q_e versus C_e and log q_e versus log C_e respectively [105].

A further analysis of the Langmuir equation can be made on the basis of a dimensionless equilibrium parameter, R_L , known as the separation factor, as given by equation (8):

$$R_{\rm L} = 1/(1 + K_{\rm L}C_{\rm o}) \tag{8}$$

Where K_L is Langmuir constant and C_o is the highest initial Cr (VI) ion concentration (mg/L) (i.e., concentration of Cr (VI) ion before adsorption). The value of R_L provides information as to whether the adsorption is irreversible (R_L = 0), favorable ($0 < R_L < 1$), linear (R_L = 1) or unfavorable (R_L > 1) [108].

In this study, adsorption equilibrium data were fitted to the Langmuir and Freundlich isotherms. However, the experimental data were found to fit well to the Freundlich isotherm as indicated by the higher, R^2 , values (Table 3 and Figure 11-22).

Adsorbent	Langmuir	· isotherm co	onstants	Freundlich	isotherm c	R_L at 50 mg/L	
	Qm	K _L	\mathbf{R}^2	K _F	n	R^2	
US	16.03	3.0303	0.968	1.2823	2.049	0.996	0.0066
ACS	27.93	2.801	0.957	1.6032	2.849	0.968	0.0071
UA	10.08	3.367	0.963	1.0162	1.724	0.998	0.0059
ACA	17.67	2.967	0.971	0.5559	1.219	0.992	0.0067
UP	7.16	3.861	0.966	0.8109	1.508	0.997	0.0052
ACP	9.86	3.322	0.980	0.8872	1.672	0.988	0.0060

Table 3: Results of isotherm models for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto untreated and activated carbon adsorbents at a temperature of 25 $^{\circ}$ C.

The Freundlich constant, n, is a measure of the deviation of the adsorption from linearity. The adsorption is linear if the value of n is equal to unity. If the value of n is less than unity, it implies that the adsorption process is unfavorable and if the value of n is more than unity, adsorption is favorable [109]. In the present study, the values of n at equilibrium were more than unity, this suggesting that the adsorption process is favorable. Besides, the values of the dimensionless factor, R_L , were between 0 and 1. This also suggested a favorable adsorption between adsorbents and Cr (VI) ion.



Figure 11: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto US (pH: 1; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: $25 \,^{\circ}$ C).



Figure 12: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACS (pH: 1; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 13: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto UA (pH: 1; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: $25 \,^{\circ}$ C).



Figure 14: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACA (pH: 2; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 15: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto UP (pH: 1; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 16: Langmuir plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACP (pH: 3; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 17: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto US (pH: 1; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 18: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACS (pH: 1; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 19: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto UA (pH: 1; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 20: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACA (pH: 2; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 21: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto UP (pH: 1; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 22: Freundlich plot of chromium (VI) loaded onto ACP (pH: 3; adsorbent dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm; contact time: 180 min and temperature: 25 °C).

7.8. Adsorption kinetic study

A kinetic study can determine the equilibrium time required for the uptake of metals from a liquid solution. Various kinetic models can be suggested for an adsorption including the Lagergren pseudo-first order kinetic, pseudo-second order kinetic, liquid diffusion model and intraparticle diffusion model [110]. In many cases, the kinetics of adsorption by any biological material has been described by pseudo-first order kinetic to explain the mechanism of the adsorption process, as given by the Lagergren equation [111]. However, it has also been shown that a pseudo-second order approach can sometimes provide a better description of the adsorption kinetics [112].

The pseudo-first order equation is:

$$Log (q_e-q_t) = log q_e - (K_1 / 2.303) t$$
(9)

The pseudo-second order equation is:

$$1/q_t = 1/K_2 q_e^2 + (1/q_e) t$$
(10)

Where: q_e is the mass of metal adsorbed at equilibrium (mg/g), q_t is the mass of metal at time t (min), K_1 the first-order reaction rate constant of adsorption (1/min) and K_2 the pseudo-second order rate constant of adsorption (mg/g min). The values of K_1 and q_e were calculated from the slope and intercept of the plot of log (q_e - q_t) versus t while the values of K_2 and q_e were evaluated from the intercept and slope of a plot of t / q_t versus t respectively [111].

The experimental results for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto both types of adsorbents showed rapid initial adsorption rate followed by a slower rate. Initially, the adsorption sites are open and the metal ions interact easily with the sites and hence a higher rate of adsorption is observed. Moreover, the driving force for adsorption (the concentration difference between the bulk solution and the solid-liquid interface) is higher initially and this leads to a higher adsorption rate. However, after the initial period, slow adsorption may be due to slower diffusion of adsorbate into the interior of the adsorbents [113].

The two adsorption kinetic models mentioned above have been used to understand the adsorption kinetics and the correlation coefficient, R^2 , were calculated from these plots. The linearity of these plots indicates the applicability of the two models [84]. These pseudo-first order and pseudo-second order models were calculated by using equations (9) and (10). However, the correlation coefficient, R^2 , values showed that the pseudo-second order model fits better to the experimental data than the pseudo-first order model (Figure 23-26 and Table 4). Therefore, the more fitness described was based on the assumption that the rate limiting step may be physisorption due to the presence of weak forces of attraction between adsorbents and adsorbate. As reported by different investigators the pseudo second-order kinetic model has been successfully applied to several adsorption systems [114, 115].



Figure 23: Pseudo-first order plot for Cr (VI) adsorption onto US, UA and UP ([Cr (VI)]: 5 mg/L; pH: 1; adsorbents dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 24: Pseudo-first order plot for Cr (VI) adsorption onto ACS, ACA and ACP ([Cr (VI)]: 5 mg/L; pH: 1, 2, and 3 for ACS, ACA and ACP respectively; adsorbents dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm and temperature: $25 \,^{\circ}$ C).



Figure 25: Pseudo-second order plot for Cr (VI) adsorption onto US, UA and UP ([Cr (VI)]: 5 mg/L; pH: 1; adsorbents dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm and temperature: 25 °C).



Figure 26: Pseudo-second order plot for Cr (VI) adsorption onto ACS, ACA and ACP ([Cr (VI)]: 5 mg/L; pH: 1, 2, and 3 for ACS, ACA and ACP respectively; adsorbents dose: 0.5 g; shaking speed: 200 rpm and temperature: °C).

Table 4:	The	adsorption	kinetic	model	rate	constants	for	adsorption	of Cr	(VI)	ions	onto
both untro	eated	and activat	ed carbo	on adso	rbent	s at consta	ant t	emperature	of 25	°C.		

Adsorbent	Pseudo-firs	st order		Pseudo-second order			
	K1	q _e	R^2	K ₂	q _e	R ²	
US	0.0253	0.0592	0.807	1.1916	0.2986	0.998	
UA	0.0253	0.0646	0.820	2.6413	0.2803	0.999	
UP	0.0253	0.0678	0.827	3.1837	0.2691	1.000	
ACS	0.0299	0.0401	0.778	0.2768	0.1689	0.797	
ACA	0.0184	0.1738	0.930	0.3106	0.3765	0.995	
ACP	0.0138	0.2213	0.941	5.3276	0.2763	1.000	

7.9. Adsorption thermodynamic study

The thermodynamic of an adsorption process can be obtained from a study of the influence of temperature on the process. They are necessary to conclude whether the process is spontaneous or not. Standard Gibb's free energy change, ΔG° , is the fundamental criteria of spontaneity.

The standard Gibb's energy change can be computed using the equation:

$$\Delta G^{o} = -RT \ln K_{c} \tag{11}$$

Where: R is universal gas constant (8.314 J mol⁻¹ K⁻¹), T is the absolute temperature in K (Kelvin) and K_c is the thermodynamic equilibrium constant.

The equilibrium constant K_c can be evaluated at each temperature using the relationship:

$$\mathbf{K}_{\mathbf{c}} = \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{A}\mathbf{e}} / \mathbf{C}_{\mathbf{e}} \tag{12}$$

Where: C_{Ae} and C_e is the amount of Cr (VI) ion adsorbed on solid phase at equilibrium and the equilibrium concentration (i.e., concentration of Cr (VI) left in solution after adsorption) in mg/L respectively.

Other thermodynamic parameters such as standard enthalpy change (ΔH°) and standard entropy change (ΔS°) can be calculated using the equation:

$$\ln K_c = \Delta S^o / R - \Delta H^o / RT$$
(13)

 ΔH^{o} and ΔS^{o} can be obtained from the slope and intercept of the plot of ln k_c versus 1/T.

Standard enthalpy change (ΔH°) is used to identify whether the adsorption process is exothermic or endothermic. But standard entropy change determines the disorder of the adsorption at solid-liquid interface [116].

These thermodynamic parameters of the adsorption process were calculated using equations 11-13 above and the calculated values of these parameters is given in Table 5.

Table 5: Thermodynamic parameter results for the adsorption of Cr (VI) ions onto untreated and activated carbon adsorbents at different temperatures.

Adsorbent	ΔH^{o} (kJmol ⁻¹)	ΔS^{o} (kJmol ⁻¹ K ⁻¹)	$\Delta G^{\circ} (kJ mol^{-1})$						
			293 K	298 K	303 K	308 K	313 K	318 K	
US	-57.616	0.22082	-6.83	-8.12	-9.27	-11.2	-12.7	-11.4	
UA	-36.898	0.14483	-5.48	-6.29	-7.05	-7.93	-8.89	-8.82	
UP	-28.999	0.11498	-4.78	-5.22	-5.78	-6.53	-7.27	-7.03	
ACS	-67.102	0.26879	-9.41	-12.7	-15.4	-18.9	-22.2	-11.9	
ACA	-28.409	0.12321	-7.08	-8.48	-9.39	-10.1	-10.9	-9.71	
ACP	-18.349	0.08132	-5.15	-5.95	-6.59	-7.05	-7.32	-7.04	

The negative values of the standard Gibb's energy change (ΔG°) indicate that the feasibility and spontaneous nature of the adsorption process but the negative values of the standard enthalpy change (ΔH°) indicate that the adsorption process was exothermic in nature and a given amount of heat is evolved during the binding of chromium (VI) ions on the surface of adsorbents. The positive values of the standard entropy change (ΔS°) show the increased randomness at solid-liquid interfaces during the adsorption of metal ions onto both untreated and activated carbon adsorbents. Furthermore, it is also suggest that the positive values of entropy indicate that there are some structural changes in the adsorbate and adsorbents [106, 117].

7.10. Adsorption efficiencies of adsorbents on real sample

The efficiencies of both untreated and activated carbon adsorbents toward the removal of chromium were also tested using wastewater which had pH 4.95 and 4085 mg/L initial chromium concentration. Adsorption experiments on this real sample were carried out at three different pH values: at pH 1(i.e., the optimum pH for US, UA, UP and ACS) and at pH 2 and 3 (i.e., the optimum pH for ACA and ACP respectively). Because of the chromium concentration (4085 mg/L) initially in the effluent was high in order to study the efficiencies

of the adsorbents for this real sample, the solutions were diluted in 50 mL volumetric flask by taking 100µL from the solutions filtered for analysis and analyzed using AAS.

To calculate the adsorbents removal efficiencies, the following step wise formulas were used [87, 118].

Dilution factor (D) =
$$V_f/V_i$$
 (14)

Where V_f is volume of volumetric flask used for dilution and V_i volume of solution taken to be diluted from the filtered solution after adsorption time was completed.

$$C_o = DC_e \tag{15}$$

Where C_o is initial concentration (mg/L) of chromium in the wastewater, D is dilution factor and C_e is the final concentration (mg/L) of chromium left in the diluted wastewater solution.

$$C_{\rm f} = DC_{\rm e} \tag{16}$$

Where D is dilution factor, C_f is final concentration (mg/L) of chromium left in the solutions which were not diluted after adsorption time was completed and C_e is the equilibrium concentration (mg/L) (i.e., the final concentration of chromium left in the diluted solutions other than diluted wastewater). Then the removal efficiencies of adsorbents were calculated using the formula:

%Cr (VI) removal =
$$[(C_0 - C_f) \times 100]/C_0$$
 (17)

Where C_o is initial concentration (mg/L) of chromium in the wastewater and C_f is final concentration (mg/L) of chromium left in the solutions which were not diluted after adsorption time was completed.

As the chromium concentration in the effluent was high, the adsorption analyses by AAS were carried out after diluting 500 times. Even after diluting the effluent solution, it was still very concentrated. That is why percent adsorptions tabulated (Table 6) below seem small and the final concentration of chromium were high in case of all adsorbents. So that to bring its concentration into the World Health Organization (WHO) standard of chromium (VI) concentration (0.05 mg/L) in drinkable water, the effluent should be diluted 81700 times before discarding into the environment.

Adsorbent	Initial conc.(mg/L)	Final conc.(mg/L)	% Removal
US	4085	2687	34.22
UA	4085	3277.5	19.77
UP	4085	3990.5	2.31
ACS	4085	2216	45.75
ACA	4085	2411.5	40.97
ACP	4085	3318.5	18.76

Table 6: Percent removal of chromium from the real sample solution

7.11. Comparison of chromium (VI) adsorption capacities of various adsorbents

The adsorptive capacities of the adsorbents used in this work have been compared with other adsorbents reported in the literature as having been examined for the removal of Cr (VI) under similar conditions to those employed in the present work. These have been tabulated in Table (7) below. Thus from the results it is clearly seen that the investigated adsorbents exhibited considerably higher adsorption capacities.

Adsorbents	Q_{m} (mg/g)	References
Rice bran	0.069	[47]
Cooked waste tea	30.39	[48]
Potato peel waste	8.012	[49]
Pre-boiled sunflower stem	4.9	[50]
Formaldehyde treated sunflower	3.6	[50]
Granular activated carbon (GAC)	7.0	[73]
Char of South African Coal (CSAC)	0.3	[73]
Bael fruit (Aegle marmelos correa) shell	17.27	[76]
Untreated juniperus procera Sawdust (US)	16.03	This work
Untreated Avocado kernel seeds (UA)	10.08	This work
Untreated Papaya peels (UP)	7.16	This work
Activated Carbon of juniperus procera Sawdust (ACS)	27.93	This work
Activated Carbon of Avocado kernel seeds (ACA)	17.67	This work
Activated Carbon of Papaya peels (ACP)	9.86	This work

 Table 7: Summary of Chromium (VI) adsorption capacities of different adsorbents

8. Conclusion and Recommendation

In this study, different locally available adsorbents have been tested for their effectiveness in removing Cr (VI) both from aqueous solution and wastewater. Effects of different parameters such as pH, amount of adsorbents, initial concentration, contact time and temperature were investigated for these selected six adsorbents. The specific surface areas of all of the adsorbents were also determined using methylene blue adsorption method.

The adsorption equilibrium data obtained for removal of Cr (VI) ion onto all kinds of adsorbents were fitted into the Langmuir and Freundlich adsorption isotherms. However, the experimental data for the adsorption process were well fitted to the Freundlich adsorption model relative to the fit of the Langmuir adsorption isotherm model into both untreated and activated carbon adsorbents. The adsorption kinetic data were modeled using the pseudo-first order and pseudo-second order kinetic equations. It was shown that the pseudo-second kinetic order model is suitable for describing the adsorption system than the pseudo-first order model. Different thermodynamic parameters (ΔG° , ΔH° , and ΔS°) have also been evaluated and it has been found that the adsorption was feasible, spontaneous and exothermic in nature. The positive values of the entropy change suggest that the increased randomness at solid-liquid interfaces during the adsorption of metal ion onto adsorbents and also indicate that there are some structural changes in the adsorbent and adsorbents.

The efficiencies of untreated and activated carbon adsorbents (US, UA, UP, ACS, ACA, and ACP) toward the removal of hexavalent chromium were also examined using aqueous Cr (VI) solution and tannery waste effluent and it was found that as they have capacity to remove chromium from both kinds of solutions. But the very important aim is not to dispose chromium into the environment.

Adsorption as a means of remediation technique of heavy metals removal from wastewater has long been studied and different adsorbents were investigated for their removal efficiencies that leading to the development of efficient and economical sorbents. Through process the low cost agricultural waste by-products have been known to be better candidates due to their availability and capacity. This work has also focused on evaluating adsorption efficiencies of various low-cost locally available adsorbents. Therefore, this study will help to enable people to use these adsorbents environmentally friendly and in easily operational methods in developing countries as alternatives of advanced technologies. Moreover, the study initiates the community to due attention for chemicals disposed nearby the water. However, the future studies should focus on applicability of these adsorbents to the real situation where large volume of waste effluent is being discharged and also desorption experiments should carry out in order to recover chromium from the adsorbed surface. Additionally, the impact of other ions in the wastewater on the removal efficiencies should also be studied as the real waste effluents composed of a number of other ions.

REFERENCES

- 1. Khaldoun, Al-S. Adsorption Kinetics for the Removal of Hexavalent Chromium using Low Cost Materials. *Res. J. Chem. Environ.* **2013**, *17*, 25-30.
- 2. Mohammad, R.H.; Mina, S.; Pourya, B. Removal of Cr (VI) from Aqueous Solution Using Pine Needles Powder as a Biosorbent. *J. Appl. Sci. Environ. Sanit.* **2011**, *6*, 1-13.
- Sun, J.M.; Li, R.; Huang, J.C. Optimum pHs for Cr (VI) co-removal with nucleated Cu (II) precipitation in continuous flow fluidized metal strippers. *Water SA*. 2007, *33*, 137-142.
- Sikaily, A.E.; Nemr, A.E.; Khaled, A.O.; Abdel, W. Removal of toxic chromium from wastewater using green alga Ulva lactuca and its activated carbon. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2007, 148, 216-228.
- Li, H.; Li, Z.; Liu, T.; Xiao, X.; Peng, Z.; Deng, L. A novel technology for biosorption and recovery hexavalent chromium in wastewater by bio-functional magnetic beads. *Bioresour.Tech.* 2008, 99, 6271-6279.
- 6. Agrawal, A.; Pal, C.; Sahu, K.K. Extractive removal of chromium (VI) from industrial waste solution. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2008**, *159*, 458-464.
- 7. Heidmann, I.; Calmano, W. Removal of Cr (VI) from Model wastewaters by Electro coagulations with Fe Electrodes. *Sep. purif. Tech.* **2008**, *61*, 15-21.
- Gloder, A.K.; Samanta, A.N.; Ray, S. Removal of Cr (III) by electro coagulation with multiple electrodes: bipolar monopolar configurations. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2007, *141*, 653-661.
- 9. Krishna, G.B.; Susmita, S.G. Adsorption of Chromium (VI) from Water by Clays. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2006**, *45*, 7232-7240.
- 10. Garima, M.; Dhiraj, S. Kinetics and equilibrium studies of Cr (VI) metal ion remediation by arachis hypogea shells: a green approach. *BioResour.* **2011**, *6*, 3324-3338.
- 11. Koby, M. Removal of Cr (VI) from aqueous solutions by adsorption onto hazelnut shell activated carbon: Kinetic and equilibrium studies. *Bioresour. Tech.* **2004**, *91*, 317-321.
- Ismael, A.R.; Erika, L.T.; Juan, F.C.G.; Maria de, G.M.Z.; Victor, M.M.J. Hexavalent Chromium Removal from Aqueous Solution by Newspaper. *Int. J. Appl. Sci. and Tech.* 2012, 2, 49-55.

- 13. Baral, S.S.; Das, S.N.; Rath, P. Hexavalent chromium removal from aqueous by adsorption on treated sawdust. *Biochem. Eng. J.* **2006**, *13*, 216-222.
- 14. Abeer, F.A.; Ghadir, A. El-Ch. Adsorption of Citric Acid from Aqueous Solution onto Activated P. Lentiscus Leaves. *Int. Res. J. Environ. Sci.* **2012**, *1*, 7-13.
- 15. Mina, G.; Hassan, H.; Maryam, M. Hexavalent chromium removal from aqueous solution via adsorption on granular activated carbon: adsorption, desorption, modeling and simulation studies. *ARPN J. Eng. and Appl. Sci.* **2011**, *6*, 10-18.
- Alison, L.; Rob, V. H. An exploration into the sulphide precipitation method and its effect on metal sulphide removal. A. Lewis, R. van Hille / Hydrometallurgy. 2006, 81, 197-204.
- Syed, A. H.; Wesley, K. C.; Muhammad, S.; Larry, J. S. Micro computed Tomography Assessment of Glenoid Component Cementation Techniques in Total Shoulder Arthroplasty. J. orthopaedic Res. 2010, 1, 559-564.
- Bhatti, K. Q. I.; Ashraf, R.F. Utilization of Chemically Activated Coconut Shells for Removal of Chromium (VI) from Aqueous Solution. *J. Environ. Sci. and Eng.* 2010, *4*, 1-5.
- Inamullah, B.; Khadija, Q.; Kazi, R. A.; Abdul, K. A. Preparation and Characterization of Chemically Activated Almond Shells by Optimization of Adsorption Parameters for Removal of Chromium VI from Aqueous Solutions. *World Academy of Sci., Eng. and Tech.* 2007, 34, 199-204.
- Henrik, P.; Stanislav, N. G. Evaporation dynamics of tarsal liquid footprints in flies (Calliphora vicina) and beetles (Coccinella septempunctata). *The J. Exper. Bio.* 2012, 215, 1266-1271.
- Mitra, J.; Seyed, H. M. Comparison of Microencapsulation by Emulsion-Solvent Extraction/Evaporation Technique Using Derivatives Cellulose and Acrylate-Methacrylate Copolymer as Carriers. Jundishapur. J. Nat. Pharm. Prod. 2012, 7, 144-152.
- Eleanor, B.; Richard, J. H. Methods to separate observed global evapotranspiration into the interception, transpiration and soil surface evaporation Components. *E. Blyth, J. G. Evans and R. J. Harding.* 2011, 25, 4063-4068.

- Rafika, S. Adsorption of Heavy Metals (Cd, Zn and Pb) from Water Using Keratin Powder Prepared from Algerien Sheep Hoofs. *European J. Scientific Res.* 2009, 35, 416-425.
- Hui, Q. L.; Bing-cai, P.; Qing-jian, Z.; Wei-ming, Z.; Quan-xing, Z. A review on Adsorption of Heavy Metals from Aqueous Solution. J. Zhejiang Univ. Sci. A. 2009, 10, 716-724.
- Archana, M.; Brahma, D. T. A review on Adsorption of Heavy Metals from Aqueous Solution. *Toxicol & Environ. Chem.* 2008, 90, 1091-1097.
- 26. Srinivasan, B.; Palanki, S.; Bonvin, D. Dynamic optimization of batch processes I. Characterization of the nominal solution. *Computers and Chem. Eng.* **2003**, *27*, 1-26.
- 27. Satya, V.; Yadla, V.S.; Chandana, M.V.V. L. A review on Adsorption of Heavy Metals from Aqueous Solution. *J. Chem. Bio. Phy. Sci. Sec. D.* **2012**, *2*, 1585-1593.
- Gupta, V. K.; Rastogi, A.; Nayak, A. Adsorption studies on the removal of hexavalent chromium from aqueous solution using a low cost fertilizer industry waste material. J. *Colloid Interf. Sci.* 2010, 342, 135-141.
- 29. Jiang, Y.; Wu, Y.; Liu, J.; Xia, X.; Wang, D. Ammonium pyrrolidinedithiocarbamate modified activated carbon micro-column extraction for the determination of As(III) in water by graphite furnace atomic absorption spectrometry. *Microchim Acta*. **2008**, *161*, 137-142.
- Yan Zhang, H.; Riko Ozao, Y.; Bobby, I.T.; Chen Chia-Wei, W.; Wei-Ping, P. Characterization of Activated Carbon Prepared from Chicken Waste and Coal. *Energy & Fuels.* 2007, 21, 3735-3739.
- 31. Sivakumar, B.; Kannan, C.; Karthikeyan, S. preparation and characterization of activated carbon prepared from Balsamodendron caudatum wood waste through various activation processes. *Rasayan J. Chem.* **2012**, *5*, 321-327.
- 32. Ami, C. Low-Tech Coconut Shell Activated Charcoal Production. Int. J. for Service Learning in Eng. 2012, 7, 93-104.
- Kpete, O.A.; Horsfall, M. J. Preparation and Characterization of Activated Carbon derived from Fluted Pumpkin Stem Waste (Telfairia occidentalis Hook F). *Res. J. Chem. Sci.* 2011, 1, 10-17.

- 34. Ferhan, C.; O"zgu"r, A. Water and Wastewater Treatment: Historical Perspective of Activated Carbon Adsorption and its Integration with Biological Processes. Wiley-vch Verlag gmbh & co. kgaa. 2011, 1, 1-12.
- 35. Guixia, Z.; Xilin, W.; Xiaoli, T.; Xiangke, W. Sorption of Heavy Metal Ions from Aqueous Solutions. *The Open Colloid Sci. J.* **2011**, *4*, 19-31.
- Nady, A.; Fathy, S.; Sayed, A. A.; Reham, M. M.; El-enin, A. Effect of Activation Temperature on Textural and Adsorptive Properties for Activated Carbon Derived from Local Reed Biomass: Removal of p-Nitrophenol. *Environ. Res. Eng. and Manage.* 2012. 59, 10-22.
- Deyang, Q. Investigation of Hydrogen Physisorption Active Sites on the Surface of Porous Carbonaceous Materials. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2007, 00, 1-10.
- Okeola, F.O.; Odebunmi, E.O. Freundlich and Langmuir Isotherms Parameters for Adsorption of Methylene Blue by Activated Carbon Derived from Agro wastes. *Adv. in Nat.Appl. Sci.* 2010, *4*, 281-288.
- Barros, A. J. M.; Prasad, S.; Leite, V. D.; Souza, A. G. The process of biosorption of heavy metals in bioreactors loaded with sanitary sewage sludge. *Braz. J. Chem. Eng.* 2006, 23, 153-160.
- 40. Ansari, R.; Mohammad, K.A. "Activated Charcoal: Preparation, characterization and Applications Review article." *Int. J. of Chem. Tech. Res.* **2009**, *1*, 859-864.
- 41. Sarkar, D.; Das, S. K.; Mukherjee, P.; Bandyopadhyay, A. Proposed adsorption-diffusion model for characterizing chromium(VI) removal using dried water hyacinth roots. *Clean Soil, Air, Water.* 2010, *38*, 764-770.
- 42. Acar, F. N.; Malkoc, E. The removal of chromium (VI) from aqueous solutions by *Fagus* orientalis L. Biores. Tech. **2004**, *94*, 13-15.
- 43. Pehlivan, E.; Altun, T. Biosorption of chromium (VI) ion from aqueous solutions using walnut, hazelnut and almond shell. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2008**, *155*, 378-384.
- 44. Park, D.; Lim, S. R.; Yun, Y. S.; Park, J. M. Reliable evidences that the removal mechanism of hexavalent chromium by natural biomaterials is adsorption-coupled reduction. *Chemosphere*. **2007**, *70*, 298-305.
- 45. Pino, G. H.; de Mesquita, L. M. S.; Torem, M. L. Biosorption of heavy metals by powder of green coconut shell. *Sep. Sci. Tech.* **2006**, *41*, 3141-3153.

- 46. Nameni, M.; Moghadam, M. R. A.; Arami, M. Adsorption of hexavalent chromium from aqueous solutions by wheat bran. *Int. J. Environ. Sci.Techn.* **2008**, *5*, 161-168.
- Oliveira, E.A.; Montanher, S.F.; Andrade, A.D.; Nobreg, J.A.; Rollemberg, M.C. Equilibrium studies for the sorption of chromium and nickel from aqueous solutions using raw rice bran, Process. *Biochem.* 2005, 40, 3485-3490.
- 48. Dhanakumar, S.; Solaraj, G.; Mohanraj, R.; Pattabhi, S. Removal of Cr (VI) from aqueous solution by adsorption using cooked tea dust. *Ind. J. Sci. Tech.* **2007**, *1*, 1-6.
- 49. Abdullah, M. A.; Prasad, A. G. D. Kinetic and equilibrium studies for the biosorption of Cr (VI) from aqueous solutions by potato peel waste. *Int. J. Chem. Eng. Res.* 2009, *1*, 51-62.
- 50. Jain, M.; Garg, V.K.; Kadirvelu, K. Chromium (VI) removal from aqueous system using Helianthus annuus (sunflower) stem waste. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *162*, 365-372.
- 51. Bhatti, I.; Qureshi, K.; Kazi, R.A.; Ansari, A.K. Preparation and characterization of chemically activated almond shells by optimization of adsorption parameters for removal of chromium VI from aqueous solutions. *World Acad. Sci. Eng. Tech.* **2007**, *34*, 199-204.
- 52. Argun, M. E.; Dursun, S.; Ozdemir, C.; Karatas, M. Heavy metal adsorption by modified oak sawdust: Thermodynamics and kinetics. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2007**, *141*, 77-85.
- Hsu, N.H.; Wang, S.L.; Liao, Y. H.; Huang, S.T.; Tzou, Y.M.; Huang, Y. M. Removal of hexavalent chromium from acidic aqueous solutions using rice straw-derived carbon. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2009, 171, 1066-1070.
- 54. Garg, V. K.; Gupta, R.; Kumar, R.; Gupta, R.K. Adsorption of chromium from aqueous solution on treated sawdust. *Bioresource Tech.* **2004**, *92*, 79-81.
- 55. Rane, N. M.; Sapkal, Dr. R. S.; Sapkal, Dr. V. S.; Patil, M. B.; Shewale, S. P. Use of naturally available low cost adsorbents for removal of Cr (VI) from waste water. *Int. J. Chem. Sci.* **2010**, *1*, 65-69.
- 56. Arivoli, S.; Nandhakumar, V.; Saravanan, S.; Sulochana, N. Adsorption dynamics of copper ion by low cost activated carbon. *The Arabian J. for Sci. and Eng.* **2009**, *34*, 1-12.
- 57. Rakesh, K.; Sangeeta, O.; Aparna, S. Biosorption of heavy metal ions by using modified waste tree bark material. *Int. J. Environ. Sci.* **2012**, *3*, 720-726.

- Suresh, G.; Babu, B.V. Adsorption of Cr (VI) by a Low-Cost Adsorbent Prepared from Neem Leaves. *Proceedings of National Conference on Environmental Conservation*. 2006, 1, 175-180.
- 59. Antonio, Z.; Roberto, L. Adsorption of Pb (II) on Spent Leaves of Green and Black Tea. *American J. of Appl. Sci.* **2010**, *7*, 153-159.
- 60. Ekebafe, L. O.; Ekebafe, M. O.; Erhuaga, G.O.; Oboigba, F.M. Effect of Reaction Conditions on the Uptake of Selected Heavy Metals from Aqueous Media using Composite from Renewable Materials. *American J. Polymer Sci.* **2012**, 2, 67-72.
- Michael, R.; Nunes, G. M. P.; Lara, F. L.; Eliete, W. A.; Neftali, L. V. C.; Jorge, L. M.; Irene, T. S. G. Active Carbon Preparation from Treads of Tire Waste for Dye Removal in Wastewater. *J. Braz. Chem. Soc.* 2011, 22, 2027-2035.
- 62. Suleman, Q.; Anwar, R. S.; Muhammad, M. A. Heavy metal uptake by agro based waste materials. *Electronic J. Biotech.* **2007**, 10, 409-416.
- Xue, S.W. Invasive Freshwater Macrophyte Alligator Weed: Novel Adsorbent for Removal of Malachite Green from Aqueous Solution. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* 2010, 206, 215-223.
- 64. Nassima, T.; Moussa, A. Chromium (VI) Adsorption onto Activated Kraft Liginin produced from Alfa grass (stipa tenacissima). *BioResources*. **2009**, *4*, 740-755.
- 65. Hu, J.; Wang, S.W.; Shao, D.D.; Dong, Y.H.; Li, J.X.; Wang, X.K. Adsorption and reduction of chromium(VI) from aqueous solution by multiwalled carbon nanotubes. *Open Environ. Pollut. Toxicol. J.* **2009**, *1*, 66-73.
- 66. Hu, J.; Chen,C.; Zhu, X.; Wang, X. Removal of chromium from aqueous solution by using oxidized multiwalled carbon nanotubes. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *162*, 1542-1550.
- Pillay, K.; Cukrowskab, E.M.; Coville, N.J. Multi-walled carbon nanotubes as adsorbents for the removal of parts per billion levels of hexavalent chromium from aqueous solution. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2009, *166*, 1067-1075.
- 68. Park, H.J.; Tavlarides, L. L. Adsorption of chromium (VI) from aqueous solutions using an imidazole functionalized adsorbent. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2008**, *47*, 3401-3409.
- Yuan, P.; Fan, M.; Yang, D.; He, H.; Liu, D.; Yuan, A.; Zhu, J.; Chen, T.H. Montmorillonite-supported magnetite nanoparticles for the removal of hexavalent chromium [Cr (VI)] from aqueous solutions. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2009, *166*, 821-829.

- Gao, Z.; Bandosz, T. J.; Zhao, Z.; Han, M.; Qiu, J. Investigation of factors affecting adsorption of transition metals on oxidized carbon nanotubes. *J. Hazard. Matter.* 2009, 167, 357-365.
- Rao, G.P.; Lu, C.; Su, F. Sorption of divalent metal ions from aqueous solution by carbon nanotubes: A review. *Sep. Purif .Tech.* 2007, 58, 224-231.
- 72. Di Natale, F.; Lancia, A.; Molino, A.; Musmarra, D. Removal of chromium ions form aqueous solutions by adsorption on activated carbon and char. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2007**, *145*, 381-390.
- 73. Ghosh, P.K. Hexavalent chromium [Cr (VI)] removal by acid modified waste activated carbons. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *171*, 116-122.
- Fang, J.; Gu, Z.; Gang, D.; Liu, C.; Ilton, E.; Deng, B. Cr (VI) Removal from Aqueous Solution by Activated Carbon Coated with Quaternized Poly (4- vinylpyridine). *Environ. Sci. Tech.* 2007, *41*, 4748-4753.
- 75. Anandkumar, J.; Mandal, B. Removal of Cr (VI) from aqueous solution using Bael fruit (Aegle marmelos correa) shell as an adsorbent. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *168*, 633-640.
- 76. Rajani, S. Advances in application of natural clay and its composites in removal of biological, organic, and inorganic contaminants from drinking water. *Advances in material sci. and Eng.* 2011, 2011, 1-17.
- Mohan, D.; Singh, K.P. Single and Multi-Component Adsorption of Cadmium and Zinc using Activated Carbon Derived from Bagasse-An Agricultural Waste. *Water Res.* 2002, *36*, 2304-2318.
- Ayub, S.; Ali, S.I.; Khan, N.A. Adsorption studies on the low cost adsorbent for the removal of Cr(VI) from electroplating wastewater. *Environ. Pollut. Control J.* 2002, *5*, 10-20.
- Ajmal, M.; Rao, R.A.K.; Anwar, S.; Ahmad, J.; Ahmad, R. Adsorption Studies on Rice Husk: Removal and Recovery of Cd (II) from Wastewater. *Bioresource Tech.* 2003, *86*, 147-149.
- 80. Ayub, S.; Ali, S.I.; Khan, N.A. Efficiency evaluation of neem (Azadirachta indica) bark in treatment of industrial wastewater. *Environ. Pollut. Control J.* **2001**, *4*, 34-38.
- Bailey, S.E.; Olin, T.J.; Bricka, R.M.; Adrian, D.D. A Review of Potentially Low-Cost Sorbents for Heavy Metals. *Water Res.* 1999, *33*, 2469-2479.

- 82. Shaban, E.; Isam, M.; Abdallah, H.M. "Cadmium (II) sorption from water samples by powdered marble wastes." *Sci. Reviews.* **2008**, *20*, 249-260.
- 83. Jain, M.; Garga, V.K.; Kadirvelu, K. Chromium (VI) removal from aqueous system using Helianthus annuus (sunflower) stem waste. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *162*, 365-372.
- Maarten, van H.; Oliver, H.; Andre´, F. L. Efficiency of different mesh sizes for isolating fossil chironomids for stable isotope and radiocarbon analyses. *J. Paleolimnol.* 2010, 44, 721-729.
- Timi, T.; Michael, H.J. Kinetic and Thermodynamic Studies of Chromium (VI) Sorption by Pure and Carbonized Fluted Pumpkin waste biomass (Telfairia occidentalis Hook F.). *J. Nepal Chem. Soc.* 2011, 27, 11-18.
- Boke, K.M.; Khan, E.M. Equilibrium, kinetic and diffusion mechanism of Cr (VI) adsorption onto activated carbon derived from wood apple shell. *Arabian J. of Chem.* 2012, 1, 1-9.
- 87. Bilge, A.; Sevil, V. Kinetics and equilibrium studies for the removal of nickel and zinc from aqueous solutions by ion exchange resins. *J. of Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *167*, 482-488.
- Biswajit, D.; Naba, K. M.; Palas, R.; Soumya, C. Equilibrium, Kinetic and Thermodynamic Study on Chromium (VI) Removal from Aqueous Solution Using Pistia Stratiotes Biomass. *Chem. Sci. Trans.* 2013, *2*, 85-104.
- 89. Omomnhenle, S.; Ofomaja, A.; Okiemen, F. E. Sorption of Methylene Blue by Unmodified and Modified Citric Acid Saw Dust. *Chem. Soc. Nig.* **2006**, *30*, 161-164.
- 90. Itodo, A. U.; Itodo, H. U.; Gafar, M. K. Estimation of Specific Surface Area using Langmuir Isotherm Method. J. Appl. Sci. Environ. Manage. 2010, 14, 141-145.
- Graham, D., Characterization of physical adsorption systems: The separate effects of pore size and surface acidity upon the adsorbent capacities of activated carbons. J. Phys. Chem. 1955, 59, 896-900.
- 92. Ho, Y. S. Second-order kinetic model for the sorption of cadmium onto tree fern: A comparison of linear and non-linear methods. *Water Res.* **2006**, *40*, 119-125.
- Horsfall, M. J.; Abia, A. A. Sorption of Cadmium (II) and Zinc (II) ions from Aqueous Solutions by Cassava Waste Biomass (Manihotesculenta Vanz). Water Res. 2003, 37, 4913-4923.

- 94. Qadeer R.; Akhtar, S. Kinetics study of lead ion adsorption on active carbon. *Turk. J. Chem.* **2005**, *29*, 95-99.
- Babu, B.V.; Gupta, S. Adsorption of Cr (VI) using activated neem leaves: kinetic studies, Adsorption. J. Colloid Interf. Sci. 2008, 14, 85-92.
- 96. Selvi, K.; Pattabhi, S.; Kadirvelu, K. Removal of Cr (VI) From Aqueous Solution by Adsorption onto Activated Carbon. *Bioresour. Tech.* **2001**, *80*, 87-89.
- 97. Attia, A. A.; Khedr, S. A.; Elk holy, S. A. Adsorption of chromium ion (VI) by acid activated carbon. *Braz. J. Chem. Eng.* **2010**, *27*, 183-193.
- 98. Nameni, M.; Moghadam, M. R. A.; Arami, M. Adsorption of hexavalent chromium from aqueous solutions by wheat bran. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *5*, 161-168.
- 99. Pandey, P. K.; Sharma, S. K.; Sambi, S. S. Kinetics and equilibrium study of chromium adsorption on zeolite NaX. *Int. J. Environ. Sci. Tech.* **2010**, *7*, 395-404.
- 100. Gong, R.; Ding, Y.; Liu, H.; Chen, Q.; Liu, Z. Lead biosorption and desorption by intact and pretreated spirulina maximum biomass. *Chemosphere*. **2005**, *58*, 125-130.
- 101. Gupta, S.S.; Bhattacharyya, K.G. Adsorption of Ni (II) onto clays. *J.collide and interface science*. **2006**, *295*, 21-32.
- 102. Hamadi, N.K.; Chen, X.D.; Farid, M.M.; Lu, M.G.Q. Adsorption kinetics for the removal of Chromium (VI) from aqueous solution by adsorbents derived from used tyres and sawdust. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2001**, *84:* 95-101.
- Karthikeyan, T.; Rajgopal, S.; Miranda, L. R. Chromium (VI) adsorption from aqueous solution by Hevea Brasilinesis sawdust activated carbon. *J. Hazard. Mater.* 2005, *124*: 192-199.
- 104. Danish, M.; Hashim, R.; Rafatullah, M.; Sulaiman, O.; Ahmad, A.; Govind, G. Adsorption of Pb(II) Ions from Aqueous Solutions by Date Bead Carbon Activated with ZnCl₂. *Clean-soil, Air, Water.* 2011, 00, 1-8.
- 105. Saroj, S. B.; Surendra, N. D.; Pradip, R. Hexavalent chromium removal from aqueous solution by adsorption on treated sawdust. *Published in Biochem. Eng. J.* **2006**, *01*, 1-7.
- 106. Salah, A. W.; Abdel, M. M. A.; Mohamed, S. A.; Mamdouh, A. M. Adsorption Studies on the Removal of Hexavalent Chromium-Contaminated Wastewater using Activated Carbon and Bentonite. *Chem. J.* 2012, 02, 95-105.

- 107. Nwabanne, J.T.; Igbokwe, P.K. "Kinetics and equilibrium modeling of nickel adsorption by cassava peel." *J. of Eng. and Appl. Sci.* **2008**, *3*, 829-834.
- 108. Malik, P.K. Dye removal from wastewater using activated carbon developed from sawdust: Adsorption equilibrium and kinetics. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2004**, *113*, 1-3.
- Roulia, M.; Vassiliadis, A. A. Sorption characterization of a cationic dye. *Microporous Mesoporous Mater.* 2008, 116, 732-740.
- 110. Khezami, L.; Capart, R. Removal of chromium (VI) from aqueous solution by activated carbons. Kinetic and equilibrium studies. *J. Hazard. Mater. B.* **2005**, *123*, 223-229.
- 111. Igwe, J. C.; Abia, A. A. Adsorption kinetics and intra-particulate diffusivities for bioremediation of Co (II), Fe (II) and Cu (II) ions from waste water using modified and unmodified maize cob. *Int. J. of Phy. Sci.* **2007**, *2*, 119-127.
- 112. Demiral, H.; Demiral, I.; Tumsek, F.; Karabacakoglu, B. Adsorption of chromium (VI) from aqueous solution by activated carbon derived from olive bagasse and applicability of different adsorption models. *Chem. Eng. J.* **2008**, *144*, 188-196.
- 113. Ricordel, S.; Taha, S.; Cisse, I.; Dorange, G. Heavy metals removal by adsorption onto peanut husks carbon: characterization, kinetic study and modelling. *Sep. Purif. Tech.* 2001, 24, 389-401.
- 114. Chatterjee, S.; Woo, S. H. The removal of nitrate from aqueous solutions by chitosan hydrogel beads. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2009**, *164*, 1012-1018.
- 115. Chowdhury, Z. Z.; Sharifuddin, M. Z.; Rashid, A. K.; Muhammad, A. A. Preparation, characterization and adsorption performance of the KOH-activated carbons derived from kenaf fiber for lead (II) removal from wastewater. *Sci. Res. Essays.* 2011, *6*, 6185-6196.
- 116. Baskaran, P.K.; Venkatraman, B.R.; Hema, M.; Arivoli, S. Adsorption studies of copper ion by low cost activated carbon. *J. Chem. Pharm. Res.* **2010**, *2*, 642-655.
- 117. Khazaei, I.; Aliabadi, M.; Hamed, M. H.T. Use of Agricultural Waste for Removal of Cr (VI) from Aqueous Solution. *Iranian J. of Chem. Eng.* 2011, *8*, 1-13.
- 118. Dilution factor formula.
 <u>www.edurite.com/kbase/dilution-factor-formulaý</u> (Accessed on 24 September, 2013).